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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Turkey Cock Hall (MHT No. BA 222) is a very plain, 1-1/2 story
house of colonial design, with gakle roof and clapboard wall covering.
Its design is reminiscent of tidewater country houses of Southern Mary-
land, and the style has also been called "French Huguenot." There is a
full-width front porch and its rocf slopes upward and nergas with the
main gable roof. The house is five bays wide. There are two dormer
windows; a brick chimney emerges in the middle of the roof and vents
"clustered" fireplaces in two adjcining rooms. The 1798 tax list had
mentioned porches or "piazzas" on two sides; only one POrcih survives.

A small, stone, two-story recessed wing is attached to the north of the
frame house and contains a large kitchen with a massive fireplace.

Stone Dwellings. The stone mill town houses on the accompanying
map bear various names, some of them given in the 1972 National Register
nominaticn ferm. Maryland Historical Trust Number BA 221 applies to the
whole "Rockland Village."

1. Tavern. Also called "the second miller's house." North side of 01d
Court Road, just west of Falls Road. A long house of four segments,

two stories of stone and frame, vernacular style, with gable roof.
Entered via a porch recessed under an overhanging second story. The two
stone portions were built before the frame section that connects them:
J. Richard Rivoire, of the MHT believed that a small stone wing was the
oldest part of all, built possibly before 1800. In the 1920s or 1930s,
2 tearoom was operated here.

2. Miller's House. No. 10,114 Falls Road. The prominent stone house

at the NW corner of Falls ard Old Court Roads is twc stories, three bays
wide, with gable roof, off-center entrance portico, frame coxrnice and
broad brick flush gable-chimrey on the south end.. A photo of 1897-1900
shows no attic windows under the chimney, but these square openings _
appear in 1973. The frame wing at the rear (west) dates from 189Q. Mill
owner M. L. Garrett resiced here. .

'

3. Rockland Post Office ox General Store. (MHT No. BA 815) is two stories
plus attic of stone in a Federal character. There is a full width front
porch with hip roofing, supported by four round columns. This building
bears the date stone marked "1813" between the second story windows.

It was also a store, and was'advertised in 1922 as equipped with a store
front. For a time it served as the Brooklandville Post Office. There
are double entrance doors. Apparently unoccupied in September 1978.

4, 5. Row Houses. Nos. 10,106 through 10,112 Falls Road. This is a
continuous row of houses, some units three stories and the rest two; they
were occupied by mill workers and team drivers. The houses are all
served by individual entrance porches with shed roofs, each porch one
bay wide. The three-story block is the southern segment, and is a total
of eight bays wide. The main roofing is gabled, with ribbed metal cover-
ing. The long dimensions of the houses are parallel to the road.
CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHLET IF NECESSARY ‘
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There are half-round gable windows (or demi-lunes) at attic level in each
structure. This row is clearly shown in Plate 19 of Bromley's atlas of
1915, and a photo of 1900 shows both segments of housing. The 1918 tax
ledger of District Three carried the entry "S. Tenant House 27 X 66 .....
$1782" under the account of the mill owner of that time, . L. Garrett.

The upper end of the row consists of two units, two stories high,
similar in character, eight bays in all. The property line between the
Johnson holdings and the mill lot once passed through the party walls be-
tween rows. term paper of 1938-39 states that the miller Garrett '

rearranged eight houses of four
rooms each into three seven-room
houses. The original wooden
beams, already 100 years old,
were used in the reconstruction.?l

The 1928-40 tax ledger charges William Fell Johnson with "Addition to Row
of Houses, $3000" in a revision entered in 1934; the new tax base was more
than the assessment of the entire row in 1928 (which was $2000) but there
do not seem to have been any more buildings put up.

1Roger Hecklinger, Helen Mixter, and Katherine Merritt, "The Rockland
Mill," 1938-39 term paper, in Enoch Pratt Library VF, p. 6.
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Turkey Cock Hall, a small, 1-1/2 story house, stands on a ’*rd sur-
vey of the same name, 200 acres laid out in April of 1706 for Richard
Gist who accunulated a great amount of land in the area.: Gist s0ld 80
acres of Turkey Cock Hall in 1713 to Edward Riston (also spelled Reeston,
Reaston) for 34 pounds of tobacco per acre; Riston eventually acauired
the remainder of the 200 acres frcm cther owners. Dawn F. Thomas' new
book The Green Spring Valley cites records in 1728 ccurt p*ocecdlngs of
Riston's living 1in the county "at the Garrisocn Ridge" and she finds a
reference of 1733 to the "road whlch leads from Edward Reeston's by Mr.
Richard Gist's house."

Mary (Welch) Cook mentioned in a
devosition given in 1737 or 1738,

that when she and her husband

came to live on part of Welch's
Adventure, their nearest neighbor

for many years "was Edward Riston

- who lived on Turkey Cock Hall." (1)

The question rises then, if Gist had some other dwelling place near
present Pikesville, was there any structure standlng when Rlston took
possession in 17137 ) ) o

Riston married threec times; his last wife and first widow -married
Rinaldo Monk who lived nearby and was the first miller in the vicinity.
Riston's daughter Anne inherited all her father's land on his death in
1749 or 1750. About the same time, Anne Riston married Thomas Johnson
and in 1753, their son Rinaldo Johnson, the first of ten children was
born. The Johnson family connection still continues, 225‘years later.

Mrs. Thomas reports that the date "1712" inscribed on the chimney
was added within the last twenty years (1958-78). Estimates for the
antiquity of the house vary:

Mrs. D. F. Thomas 1707-1733
Mr. W. B. Marve 1700-1745
Rinaldo Johnson's adv. 1706.

|

(continued)
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In 1794, Rinaldo Johnsan placed the following advertisement in the
Maryland Journal and Baltimore Advertiser, an item which no local his-
torian has thus far quoted:

To be SOLD, or RENTED, on account of its remoteness
from my present residence, for any term of years not ex-
cecding twenty,

That truly valuable GRAZING FaARY, called and known
generally by the name of Turkey-Cock-Hall, situate on
Jones-Falls, in Baltimore county, distant seven or eight
miles from the town, of which immediate possession will
be given, with or without the right of taking off tne
crop of small grain growing thereon. One half of the
rent will be annually left in the hands of the tenant
for the first five years, and one fourth of the annual
rent for five years thereafter, for the purpose of
erecting suitable buildings and improvements on the
premises, to be judged of and declared by the proprietor,
and executed by the tenant.

Such as may wish, on account of their health oxr
other circumstances, to retire from the dread of war
alarms, or the noise and bustle of a city, to the sweet,
secure, and calm repose of the country, may here find an
asylum, and yet not be too remote to be deprived of the
pleasures and advantages of the Town. A particular des-
cription of Turkey Cock-Hall is unnecessary, as no one,
it is presumed, would either buy or lease without first
visiting the lands; but let it suffice, for the present,
that this place has been constantly inhabited by a con- |
siderable number of people ever since the year 1706, and
that there has never been a death on it (as I am well
informed) since the year 1739 40, but one who was a per-
son then eighty years of age. For terms apply to the
subscriber. '

RINALDO JOHNSON
Aquasco, Prince George's County, Maryland, March
15, 1794 ‘ (2)

The 1798 tax list showed the house as a one-story frame dwelling,
44 X 22 feet, with a "piazza" on both sides, 44 X 8 feet. There were
three other one-story log houses on the property, but the mill town had
not appeared. The mill founded by the Johnson kinsman, Rinaldo Monk in
1758, was nearby, downstream, and on a separate tract called Monk's Dis-
covery, a part of Turkey Cock Hall gondemned as a mill seat.

A theory offered by William B. Marye was that Turkey Cock Hall "had
undergone construction three times, with the middle portion built first
and the south section a few years later. His conclusions were based on
the similarity of wood details inside and out; the existence of the ver-
tical joint where the south and north portions were joined together; and
the wood sill on the stone foundation which was also jointed at this point.
The house contained a clustered chimney (i.e., all the fireplaces were
arranged in the .center of the adjoining rooms)." (3)

(coﬁtinued)
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Rinaldo Johnson conveyed the 0ld hall to his brother, Dr. Thomas
Johnson in 1801; he had been listed as occunant on the 1798 assessment.
The doctor had studied at the University of Pennsylvania and served in
the Maryland Legislature; the 1796 Baltimore dirc&tory showed him prac-
ticing in the town. His wife, Joanna Giles Johnson, had inherited ex-
tensive lands and ground rents in Fells Peint. By at least 1820, Dr.
Johnson was calling the 0ld hall "Rockland," a name that extended to the
mill and grounds as well. His son, William Fell Jchnson, aad a large
new stone and stucco house built on a hill on the west side of Falls Road

in 1836-37; that house came to be the ohly dwelling known as Rockland.

Dr. Johnson had left Turkey Cock Hall to his daughter, Anne G. John-
son Tagart, along with the land east of the Falls Road. The property
passed to Samuel H. Tagart, who left his assets to the Mayor and City
Council in trust for the McDonogh Educational Fund. William Fell Johnson
(2d) bought the property in 1893. It passed to William Fell Johnson (3rd)
and on his death in 1968, the property and cottage passed to Dr. Robert W.
Johnson, whose son lives next door, the 9th generation of related persons
to dwell there.

Stone Dwellings. The stone houses on the west side of Falls Road at
Rockland date to .813 as demonstrated by an inscribed stone in the build-
ing known as the post office or general store. The entire "town" was
part of the capitalistic venture of one man, Dr. Thomas Jcihnson, and was
built as an adjunct to the Rockland Grist Mill, also dated at 1813 by
Johnson family records. Dr. Johnson built two miles of the Falls Turn-
pike Road to assure an outlet for his mill products. The 1818 assessment
book Dr. Thomas Johnson with the tract Turkey Cock Hall and a
cristmill and a sawmill worth $1000. The mill was a big venture for that
period, and the 1820 census form shows that the capital investment was
$25,000. In the period before Europe recovered from the Napoleonic wars,
Maryland millers had been doing a booming business and getting high prices
for flour, but there were numercus complaints on the 1820 census form
about peace and poor business, and Samuel Scott, who was either hired
miller or tenant operator, at what he listed as "Rockland illls,“ reported

that flour sales were dull.

In 1831, the flour mill was converted.to a calico printing works
under arrangement with Dr. Johnson's heirs. The establishment was "con-
ducted by Aline Mellin, an European of great knowledge, as well practical
as theoretic."” (4) By 1840, Mellin or Mellier, was insolvent 'and his
elaborate eguipment was advertised for sale, but the auction notice in
the American stated that the mill itself belonged exclusively to Mr.
William F. Jonnson. (5) Both Johnson and his real estate agent adver-
tised the calico works for rent in 1847 and 1848, respectively. The 1848
ad mentioned "outhouses for hands." (6) Richard Hook and Company bought
the mill and some of the stone houses in 1855 and were using it to spin
cotton when the works burned on October 21, 1857. By at least 1863,
Rockland iill was back in business, spinning yarn, presumably reconstruc-
ted within the old walls; it was a flour mill again in the 1877 atlas..
Early in 1897, it was converted to steam power, and kept going until 1922,

- when offered for sale under default of mortgage. In 1927, William Fell
‘Johnson (3rd) bought the old family mill and associated stone houses. (7)

1

{

(continued)
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The mill went through a number of diverse manufacturing uses includ-
ing the making of wooden toys, paper products, Standard Brand cake mnix-
tures, wacgner extracts, hermetically sealed bread products, and Deorothy
Lamour Enterprises ccsmetics. None of these undertakings enjoyecd a long
run, and eventually the mill becames vacant, and one tragedy took place
there in 1975 when a 52-year-old woman went into the mill, took tranguil-
izers, and died. In 1970, there had been a plan to use the village as a
focus for building a James W. Rouse planned community, but the project
was not carried through. (8)

Five years later, a new development plan was announced with J. R:
Azola & Associates as prime contractors. (9)

In 1978, the Johnsons scld the mill to the Azola firm to carry out
an adaptive use plan drawn up by James R. Grieves Associates to convert
the mill to professional office space. The necessary parking permits
were secured early that same year and grading was completed by October 1;
the millrace was also cleared of underb;ush.

The Rockland dwellings have remained a compact village, written up
every so often in the newspapers under such headlines as "Falls Road
Village Depends on a Venerable Industry," or, "Mansion, Dinky Post Office,
Contribute to Rockland's 'Country Club' Life." (10)

Various accounts have confused the gristmill-calico factory with the
Rockland Bleach Works downstream, which was founded by three brothers
from England named Wright about 1810. A deed of 1860 mentions W. F.
Johnson as sole owner of the bleaching plant, but that industry has gen-
erally followed a totally different history and is still manufacturing
curtain linings in a complex of buildings a mile downstream, structures
that are replacements of the original works burned in 1884.

The obituary of William Fell Johnson (3rd) reported that in spite of
his education, sporting interests, and social connections, Mr. Johnson did
all the repairs himself for the tenants in his rental properties. Follow-
ing his death in an auto accident in 1968 at age 83, the property des-
cended to still other members of the Johnson family. (11)

The entire village and mill were added to the National Register of
Historic Places in 1973 as an historic district, following submission of
documentation by Miss E. Frances Offutt of the Baltimore County Office of
Planning and Zoning in 1966 and preparation of a National Register form
in 1972 by Nancy A. Miller and J. Richard Rivoire.
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